ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

MAY 18 2015

SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from Newberry County
R. Knox McMahon, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

MANDY LENORE SMITH,

APPELLANT.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-002209

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LAURA R. BAER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

CARMEN V. GHANJEHSANI

Richardson Plowden & Robinson, P.A.
1900 Barnwell Street
Columbia, S.C. 29201
(803) 253-8692

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. The Trial Court erred in charging the jury on the “hand of one is the hand of all” theory of accomplice liability where the State did not present any evidence of a common plan or design between Appellant and her alleged accomplice to commit murder and where the evidence established that it was either one or the other who committed the murder alone.
- II. Appellant’s confession given on May 26, 2011 to police was inadmissible where she had advised investigators that she planned to retain an attorney before she turned herself in and spoke to police and the police interrogated her anyway without an attorney present thereby violating Appellant’s rights under Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to have counsel present during custodial interrogation.
- III. The Trial Court erred in refusing to charge voluntary manslaughter where the State presented at evidence at trial that the murder may have occurred after Appellant and the decedent had a heated argument after which he hit her numerous times and then she snapped.
- IV. The Trial Court erred in holding evidence that Appellant’s co-defendant Wise had previously shot and killed her dogs without justification was inadmissible under Rule 608 where Appellant did not offer such evidence to impeach her co-defendant’s credibility, but rather offered such evidence to show her state of mind after the murder to explain why she feared for her life and why she engaged in certain actions after the murder.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 5, 2011, the Newberry County Grand Jury indicted Appellant Mandy Lenore Smith of (1) murder; (2) possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime; and (3) desecration of human remains. R. 11, ll. 3-12; R.1103 – 1104; R. 1106 – 1107; R. 1109 -1110.

Appellant proceeded to trial on October 7, 2013 before the Honorable R. Knox McMahon and a jury. R. 1. Appellant was represented by Charles V. Verner, and the State was represented by Solicitor David M. Stumbo and Assistant Solicitor Christopher Dale Scott. Id.

On October 11, 2013, the jury found Appellant (1) guilty of murder; (2) not guilty of possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime; and (3) guilty of desecration of human remains. R. 1052, ll. 13-22.

On October 14, 2013, Judge McMahon sentenced Appellant to (1) forty (40) years for murder; and (2) ten (10) years for desecration of human remains. Judge McMahon ordered the sentences to run consecutive for a total of fifty (50) years. R. 1077. 19, ll. 12-20.

Appellant timely filed and served her Notice of Appeal.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The decedent, John Henry Mayers, was reported missing by his family on May 10, 2011. R. 196, ll. 18-21. His family had last seen him on May 7, 2011. R. 161, l. 5 – 162, l. 12; R. 190, ll. 7-22; R. 198, ll. 12-15. Mayers did not show up for work on May 9, 2011. Tr. 168, ll. 19-21. Mayers' family gave law enforcement the name of Appellant during the search for Mayers. R. 192, ll. 17-22.

Appellant grew up in Chapin, South Carolina. R. 806, ll. 7-8. She had lived a difficult life starting when she was a young child. When she was ten years old, she suffered from a condition called hysterical blindness which causes a person to experience temporary blindness when a traumatic event occurs in your mind. It is a type of mental issue. R. 778, l. 17 – 779, l. 21. Appellant had also been sexually molested by her grandfather has a child. Her grandfather was convicted and placed on the sex offender registry for his sexual abuse of Appellant. R. 779, l. 23 – 782, l. 15. When Appellant was about thirteen years old, she was sent to live at the Epworth's Children's Home in Columbia. R. 783, ll. 6-18.

Appellant met Mayers while she was still in high school, around the age of fourteen or fifteen. R. 806, ll. 16-21. Mayers was about eleven years older than her and was in his twenties. R. 806, l. 22 – 807, l. 2. Mayers began a sexual relationship with Appellant. R. 808, ll. 3-5. Mayers also introduced Appellant to crack cocaine, and they would smoke crack cocaine together at least every day. Mayers and Appellant were together off and on until she was about eighteen years old. R. 808, ll. 13-25; 812, ll. 15-19.

About six months after Appellant began the sexual relationship with Mayers, she moved into his family home where Mayer's mother also lived. R. 787, ll. 4-10; 809, ll. 3-10; Mayers' family members confirmed at trial that Appellant lived with the Mayers family

as a teenager. R. 158, ll. 4-18; 181, l. 17 – 182, l. 17; 193, ll. 4 – 17. Mayers' family members also confirmed that Mayers had a crack cocaine addiction. R. 156, ll. 4-10; 159, ll. 17-20; 178, l. 24 – 179, l. 20.

Appellant loved Mayers and that he treated her nicely for the most part, although Mayers was often physically violent toward her. R. 810, l. 5 – 811, l. 7. The acts of violence occurred at least once a week. R. 812, ll. 20-21; 815, ll. 7-9. Appellant also asserted that Mayers would make her have sex with other men in exchange for crack cocaine. These encounters were arranged by Mayers. R. 813, l. 7 – 814, l. 8.

Appellant testified that while Mayers was pleasant and friendly when he was sober, Mayers usually became verbally abusive and aggressive after smoking crack cocaine. R. 814, l. 18 – 815, l. 6. During Mayers' violent episodes, he would slap her and hit her with closed fists. These incidents did not occur in front of Mayers' family. R. 815, ll. 10-18; 816, ll. 12-20. Mayers also punished her by making her have anal sex R. 816, l. 21 – 817, l. 4.

When Appellant was eighteen year old, she moved to Georgia and then to Michigan. R. 817, l. 8 – 820, l. 11. Around 2003 or 2004, she returned to the Lake Murray area and rekindled her relationship with Mayers. That lasted until she got married to a serviceman and moved to Germany for almost two years. R. 820, l. 18 – 821, l. 11.

Appellant got divorced and eventually moved back to South Carolina to a property on Wheeland School Road near Little Mountain. R. 824, ll. 1-6; 826, ll. 7-19. When she moved back to the Little Mountain area, Appellant met a man named Timothy Wise on the internet. She had one sexual encounter with Wise but then they became very good friends because Appellant was not interested in Wise as a boyfriend. R. 828, l. 15 – 830, l. 10.

Appellant believed she met Wise around 2009. As good friends, they saw each other almost every day. R. 831, ll. 6 – 13.

After Appellant had moved back to the Wheeland School Road property, Mayers found out she was back and living there. Mayers showed up at her residence one day. R. 832, ll. 13-21. Appellant and Mayer began seeing each other again and had been seeing each other for six or so months prior to his last being seen on May 7, 2011. They would meet a few times a week. R. 838, ll. 7-13. They often times went to a place out in the woods off of Judy B. Road for their encounters. R. 845, ll. 1-13.

On April 8, 2011, Appellant had a restraining order placed against Mayers because he had come to her property one night and hit her quite a few times. R. 841, l. 12 – 843, l. 23. Timothy Wise and another friend, Kris Hansen, helped Appellant obtain the restraining order. R. 842, ll. 18-20. Kris Hansen testified at trial that the incident which resulted in the restraining order occurred around March 23, 2011 after he and Appellant had returned back to her house from Waffle House. The two were sitting the car chitchatting when “two headlights just popped on and all of sudden [Appellant] was getting hauled out of the passenger side” Hansen saw “two arms and a fist, pulling her out and beating her.” Hansen was able to pull Appellant back into the car. As a result of this incident, Hansen testified at the restraining order hearing, and the restraining order was issued against Mayers. Hansen and Wise were in attendance at the hearing with Appellant. R. 711, l. 22 – 715, l. 2.

Despite the restraining order, Appellant began seeing Mayers again approximately three days after the restraining order was issued. R. 843, ll. 1-4; 844, ll. 6-8. Mayers showed up at Appellant’s home. They talked about the restraining order, and Mayers

apologized. Appellant and Mayers resumed a sexual relationship, and they saw each other about three to four times a week. R. 844, ll. 6-23.

When Mayers went missing, Detective Billy Derrenbacher of the Lexington County Sheriff's Office was assigned the case on May 11, 2011. R. 196, ll. 3-21; 198, ll. 16-18. Detective Derrenbacher had been given Appellant's name as someone that might have information on Mayers. R. 200, ll. 8-11. He went out to the Wheeland School Road residence where Appellant had been living, but found an empty trailer. R. 200, l. 18 – 201; l. 2.

Detective Derrenbacher first made contact with Appellant on either May 17 or 18 at the residence of Wise. R. 202, ll. 10-17. He had learned that Appellant was staying there with Wise who lived there with his mother. R. 203, ll. 8-11. Detective Derrenbacher spoke with Appellant that day. He did not speak to Wise. He believed that Appellant had already spoken to Major Wesley Boland of the Newberry County Sheriff's Office the previous day. Appellant acknowledged to Detective Derrenbacher that she had a relationship with Mayers. She told Detective Derrenbacher that she was not seen Mayers in a little while. R. 204, l. 6 – 206, l. 10. Appellant also stated that she had last seen Mayers getting into a vehicle with Elvis Hill. R. 207, ll. 6-11.

Detective Derrenbacher went back to the Wise residence on May 20. R. 207, ll. 23-25. This time Detective Derrenbacher went with Major Boland. They were met by Wise's mother who informed them that Appellant and Wise were not at the house but had gone to Wal-Mart. The officers drove to Wal-Mart to look for Wise's black Ford L450 pickup truck, but did not see the truck in the parking lot. They returned to the Wise residence. Appellant was not at the residence, but this time Wise was there. They spoke with Wise

who indicated that Appellant left in an unknown vehicle with unknown males at the Wal-Mart. R. 208, l. 5 – 209, l. 9. Detective Derrenbacher said they received a telephone call from Appellant indicating that she was out of town and would be more than happy to meet at the Newberry County Sheriff's Department when she returned in about two hours. R. 209, ll. 15-19. He said Appellant did not show up later. R. 210, ll. 13-15.

Detective Derrenbacher spoke with Wise again on May 20 where he provided a written statement. R. 210, l. 16 – 211, l. 3; 238, ll. 14-16. In this statement, Wise said he did not know anything about the disappearance of Mayers and did not kill Mayers or have any part in his disappearance. He also stated that Appellant had not told him that anything had happened to Mayers. He further claimed that he felt Appellant was capable of hurting or killing Mayers in self-defense. Finally, Wise stated that if Appellant did anything, her motive for hurting or killing Mayers would be "fear or blackout rage." R. 238, l. 14 – 240, l. 4; R. 1089; R. 1089 – 1091 (State's Ex. 30).

Major Wesley Boland of the Newberry County Sheriff's Department testified that he spoke with Appellant on May 16 at Wise's home, and that she gave him the name of Elvis Hill. R. 260, l. 21 – 261, l. 18; 263, ll. 2 – 13. On May 22, after Appellant had left town, she called Major Boland and said she wanted to retain an attorney and then turn herself in to speak with law enforcement. On May 23, Appellant, however, did not appear at the Newberry Sheriff's Department. R. 271, l. 19 – 273, l. 7.

Major Boland had gathered information that Appellant was staying at her mother's house in Greenville, and around midnight on the evening of May 24 or the early morning hours of May 25, Major Boland, along with Greenville County officers, arrested Appellant at her mother's house. She was actually arrested and brought in on a forgery charge for

selling Mayers' car to a scrapyard on April 21, 2011 approximately two or three weeks before Mayers went missing. Mayers had not filed any report for a stolen vehicle. Major Boland admitted that he brought Appellant in on the forgery charge so he could further investigate the possible murder of Mayers. R. 273, l. 10 – 277, l. 1.

Major Danny Gilliam of the Newberry Sheriff's Department first became involved in the missing persons case of Mayers when Captain Robert Dennis of the Newberry County Sheriff's Department asked him to speak to Wise. R. 292, l. 11 – 293, l. 15. He asked Wise that if Appellant had wanted to go somewhere or put something somewhere, where would she go. Wise informed Major Gilliam that there was a road out on Brazelman's Bridge Road that she liked to go to. Major Gilliam asked Wise if there was a possibility that she put a body out there and Wise indicated that he did not know. He then asked Wise if he could take the officers out there, and Wise agreed. Major Gilliam, Captain Dennis, and Wise drove out to the area. This occurred on May 25, 2011. R. 293, l. 16 – 294, l. 7.

Wise took them out to Judy B. Road in the Sumter National Forest. As the officers approached, Captain Dennis lowered the windows, and Wise wanted to know why the windows were being lowered. The officers informed Wise that they could possibly pick up a smell. Major Gilliam looked back, and Wise had covered up his nose. Major Gilliam said it was not much further when the smell hit. Captain Dennis said, "I think we are here." R. 296, ll. 1-24; 297, ll. 11-17. Major Gilliam felt that when Wise covered up his nose, he knew the smell was coming and he was anticipating it. R. 296, l. 25 – 297, l. 10; 304, l. 23 – 305, l. 24.

The officers parked at the end of Judy B. Road, started walking, and found the body of Mayers. R. 297, l. 23 – 298, l. 18; 360, ll. 8-22. The body was located in the woods. Captain Dennis also found some shells. R. 300, ll. 6-15.

Captain Dennis testified that on May 20, 2011, Wise gave a statement that he had loaned a gun to Appellant and that Wise had informed law enforcement where the gun was located. Captain Dennis retrieved the gun from the center console of Wise's truck. R. 558, l. 10 – 560, l. 17; 636, ll. 8-10. The State's firearm and tool mark examination expert testified that it was her opinion that this gun had fired the shell casing found where Mayers was killed. R. 353, l. 20 – 354, l. 6; 365, l. 22 -366, l. 2; 372, ll. 8-11. The State's expert could not say whether two bullets retrieved from Mayers' body during the autopsy were fired by this gun, and her opinion as to that was inconclusive. R. 363, l. 23 – 364, l. 13. There was no evidence presented at trial as to any fingerprints found on the gun.

As Major Gilliam had already described at trial, Captain Dennis said that on May 25, 2011, Wise indicated Judy B. Road as a place he thought Appellant might have gone with Mayers. Wise directed Major Gilliam and Captain Dennis out to Judy B. Road. R. 563, l. 11 – 567, l. 11. Captain Dennis also described rolling down the windows to see if there was any smell of decomposition and ultimately smelling an odor. R. 567, l. 12 – 568, l. 2. He confirmed that Wise started covering his nose before any smell could be detected, and in Captain Dennis' opinion, it was clear based on his observation of Wise's behavior that Wise had been close to Mayers' body before. R. 639, ll. 6-20. Captain Dennis said he located the body in the wood line. His body was positioned face down and his arms were outstretched above where his head would be. The head was not located with the body. R. 568, l. 5 - 570, l. 2. Captain Dennis believed that Mayers' body had been dragged into the

woods due to the fact that his hands were outstretched above where the head would have been and the shirt was rolled up. R. 641, ll. 8-16.

Captain Dennis collected a spent cartridge casing as well as a cigarette butt. R. 570, ll. 3-11. SLED was unable to obtain any DNA from the cigarette butt. R. 571, ll. 15-19.

After Wise took Captain Dennis and Major Gilliam to the end of Judy B. Road where Mayers' body was found, he gave another written statement on May 25, 2011. R. 575, ll. 12-15; 577, ll. 5-7; R. 1092 – 1093 (State's Ex. 31). In this statement, Wise said that on May 7, 2011, he was texted by Appellant and asked to call Mayers since she did not have minutes on her phone. Wise called Mayers and advised him that Appellant was moving from the residence on Wheeland School Road and that she no longer wanted anything to do with Mayers. Wise told Mayers that Appellant was going to be safe and she would be happy. Wise said that around 1:00 a.m. on May 8, 2011, Appellant texted him that she was on Brasselman's Bridge Road and needed directions to I-26. Wise said he told her which direction to go. Wise learned Mayers was missing the following Monday and claimed he became suspicious of Appellant when she started becoming paranoid. He further stated in his written statement that he told deputies he thought she might have hidden a body off Judy B. Road which was off Brasselman's because she and Appellant had been there before and since Appellant was on Brasselman's the night Mayers disappeared. R. 1092-1093 (State's Ex. 31); R. 577, l. 17 – 578, l. 11. In this May 25, 2011 statement, Wise still did not put himself at the scene of the crime. R. 578, l. 12-14.

Because Wise mentioned text messages, law enforcement retrieved his phone, but they were unable to retrieve any text messages. Therefore, law enforcement was unable to verify Wise's claims of the texts between Appellant and Wise. R. 578, l. 15 – 579, l. 20.

Captain Dennis met with Wise again on May 26, 2011 after Appellant had already been brought to the Newberry County Detention Center on unrelated charges. R. 580, ll. 1 – 17. On the 26th, Wise admitted being at the dead end of Judy B. Road when Mayers was shot. In this statement, Wise said Appellant texted him that evening and asked him to call Mayers and tell him that she was going to be at the stop sign besides Mr. J's. Wise called Mayers and told him. Then Wise sat down to play cards on the computer. Around 11:30 p.m., Wise said he received another text from Appellant to meet them at the end of Judy B. Road. Wise left his house at 11:45 p.m., went to the end of Judy B. Road and waited approximately twenty-five minutes. Appellant and Mayers then arrived and they stood around talking for about thirty minutes. R. 1094; R. 581, l. 12 – 582, l. 13.

In his statement, Wise claimed that Mayers then walked away from them towards the woods when Appellant pulled out a gun Wise had loaned her which she fired and hit Mayers in the right shoulder area. Wise said Mayers ran and tried to get away in the woods and that Appellant followed and fired one more time and emerged from the woods a couple of minutes later, stating that he was not going to bother her anymore and that she would feel safe. Wise said they then got into their separate vehicles and left. R. 1094 – 1096 (State's Ex. 32); R. 582, l. 13 – 583, l. 16.

Wise also told the officers that on May 19, 2011, he and Appellant returned to the end of Judy B. Road where Appellant removed the skull from Mayers' body and then drove to the Tyger River landing on Maybinton Road where she threw a bucket containing the

head into the river. R. 1094 – 1096 (State's Ex. 32); R. 583, l. 17 – 584, l. 7. After he gave this statement, Captain Dennis drove Wise out to the river where the additional remains of Mayers were recovered. R. 584, l. 8 – 587, l. 9.

Captain Dennis also spoke to Appellant on May 26, 2011. Her interview was conducted after Wise gave his final statement. R. 587, l. 15 – 588, l. 14. In this statement, Appellant advised Captain Dennis of her abusive and drug dependent relationship with Mayers. On the night of May 7, 2011, she and Mayers were together but they began having an argument about her moving from her Wheeland School Road residence. Captain Dennis said Appellant told him that she tried to calm Mayers down but that she then snapped. She said the gun she used was a gun she received from Wise after she had obtained a restraining order against Mayers. She did not remember a portion of what happened. She blacked out after Mayers hit her numerous times and when she "came out of blackness," she was holding the gun and Mayers was lifeless on the ground in front of her. Appellant said that Wise had no knowledge of what had happened until it was done and then Wise freaked out and left. Appellant said she went back a week later and removed Mayers' head and took it to the river. R. 1080 – 1083 (State's Ex. 19); R. 593, l. 9 – 597, l. 21.

Captain Dennis spoke with Appellant again on June 10, 2011 after she wrote a letter asking to revise her statement. R. 599, ll. 5 – 22. Appellant told Captain Dennis that everything she said about her abusive relationship and drug use with Mayers was true. R. 600, ll. 19-21.

Appellant then said that on May 7, 2011, she texted Wise around 10:00 p.m. to call Mayers so he would come hang out with Appellant. She picked Mayers up at a house about an hour and a half later. She texted Wise and let him know where she was going because

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