ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Newberry County

R. Knox McMahon, Circuit Court Judge

---

RECEIVED

MAY 18 2015

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

MANDY LENORE SMITH,

APPELLANT,

Appellate Case No. 2013-002209.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

JOHN W. McINTOSH  
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

KAYCIE S. TIMMONS  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 100237

P.O. Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211-1549  
(803) 734-0265

DAVID M. STUMBO  
Solicitor, Eighth Circuit  
P.O. Box 516  
Greenwood, SC 29649  
(864)942-8800

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

---

<sup>9</sup> Compare the United States Supreme Court's recent decision, *Salinas v. Texas*, 133 S. Ct. 2174 (2013), where Justice Alito's plurality opinion stressed that the noncustodial nature of an interview placed "petitioner's situation outside the scope of *Miranda* . . . ." 133 S. Ct. at 2180.

- III. The trial court committed harmless error in refusing to charge voluntary manslaughter where the only evidence to support such a charge was in Appellant's first statement, which she later recanted and also denied while testifying at her trial and which was inconsistent with her defense that another person committed the crime.

#### Introduction

Though Respondent concedes that the trial court erred in refusing to charge voluntary manslaughter, such error was harmless where there was very little evidence to support that charge and neither Appellant nor the State pursued a theory that would support a voluntary manslaughter finding by the jury.

#### How the Issue Was Raised at Trial

Appellant's May 26th statement was introduced by the State during Robert Dennis's testimony as he described Appellant's first statement to police concerning what happened the night of May 7, 2011. (R. p. 590, line 20–p. 599, line 4). In that statement Appellant describes the night of Victim's murder as follows:<sup>10</sup>

Saturday May 7th 2011 around 11 pm I picked John up hoping to have a nice time. After picking John up John did his normal mental and hitting abuse. I tried to take him back home but he would not let me. He said he did not leave house for nothing and he wanted sex . . . .

I did NOT want to end his life but I felt that it was me or John that night. He had been smoking crack and drinking that night . . . . He found out I was actually moving the night of May 7th 2011. Which started a one sided argument with me. I believe that it was him or me that night and it was almost me. I stayed away from everyone for the next week or so to Hide my bruises and black eyes . . . . The gun used I had gotten from Tim shortly after the restraining order was given. John knew I had the gun since then but knew I did have the heart to use the gun. I don't remember a portion of what happen. I blacked out after John had hit me newmous

---

<sup>10</sup> The below excerpt is only a portion of Appellant's May 26th statement, but the excerpt includes everything Appellant said about the night of May 7th. The remainder of the statement is mostly Appellant's statements of Victim's past mistreatment and abuse of Appellant. (See R. pp. 1080–83).

times and when I came out of blackness I was holding gun and he was lifeless on ground in front of me. I sat there on my knees cring and tring to figure out what I did for 15 mins or so before I left. I tried to revive him though mouth to mouth when I first realized what I had done and when I couldn't bring him back I was so scared so I left . . . .

(R. pp. 1080–83 (errors in original)). It does not appear that the above portion of the statement was read aloud to the jury. (R. p. 597, line 6–p. 598, line 12).

Dennis did not testify that Appellant stated that Victim hit her before she shot him. However, Dennis did testify that Appellant told investigators that that night on Judy B. Road “started off good but then it became more abusive because he was fussing about her moving. He told that she was running around on him and she tried to, as she told, she tried to calm him down . . . .” (R. p. 594, lines 5–8). According to Dennis, Appellant

stated that she thought she pretty much snapped. That she had been outside the truck and that she had the gun with her because she had it for protection after a restraining order. And she told that after she shot him for the first time Tim freaked. And Tim got in his truck and left. I asked her what happened. She said she was in the woods whenever she shot him first and that John came at her and she shot him again.

(R. p. 594, lines 12–19).<sup>11</sup> Dennis further testified that on June 10, 2011, he spoke with Appellant again, at her request, and at that time she recanted her May 26th statement and gave a new statement implicating Wise in Victim’s murder. (R. p. 599, line 7–p. 605, line 13).

When Appellant testified, she denied that her May 26th statement was true, and she stated that she only made that statement because she believed Wise “was still out and he had my dogs and he knew where my family was.” (R. p. 917, line 19–p. 919, line 25).

---

<sup>11</sup> Appellant also admitted at trial that she confessed to shooting Victim in her May 26th statement. (R. p. 932, lines 12–17).

Prior to closing arguments, defense counsel requested that voluntary manslaughter be included in the jury instructions. (R. p. 953, lines 9–19). In particular, defense counsel argued, “[T]here is some evidence both from T.C. Wise’s testimony and from the statements that Mandy and John Henry were engaged in smoking crack cocaine. Something happened and she shot him at that instance.” (R. p. 953, lines 11–15).

Counsel for the State argued that there was no evidence to support such a charge, stating, “We don’t believe at this point that there was sufficient, any kind of provocation that would necessitate a voluntary manslaughter.” (R. p. 953, line 22–p. 954, line 8).

Defense counsel countered that “the State is really arguing three inconsistent positions to the jury, that is Mandy operated alone, that is that Mandy operating in conjunction with T.C. and that, if evidence of the statements that the State would introduce into evidence then their third would be the voluntary manslaughter.” (R. p. 954, lines 13–18). Defense counsel specifically noted Wise’s testimony that Appellant and Victim walked off and smoked crack together and evidence that smoking crack changed Victim’s temperament. (R. p. 955, line 23–p. 956, line 11).

The trial court denied defense counsel’s request to charge voluntary manslaughter, ruling:

I think the law in South Carolina is you can present inconsistent defenses. I agree with that. However, no voluntary manslaughter is the taking of the life of another in the sudden heat of passion based on sufficient legal provocation, both heat of passion and sufficient legal provocation must be present at the time of the killing to constitute voluntary manslaughter. Even if I believe that both [Victim] and [Appellant] were smoking crack cocaine, of course, voluntary intoxication by alcohol and or drugs is not a defense to a specific intent crime. It does not seem to be sufficient legal provocation nor sudden heat of passion.

(R. p. 956, line 16–p. 957, line 6).

### Standard of Review

A court may eliminate the offense of manslaughter where it clearly appears that there is no evidence whatsoever tending to reduce the crime from murder to manslaughter. *State v. Burriss*, 334 S.C. 256, 264, 513 S.E.2d 104, 109 (1999). An appellate court will not reverse the trial judge's decision absent an abuse of discretion. *Clark v. Cantrell*, 339 S.C. 369, 389, 529 S.E.2d 528, 539 (2000). An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support. *Id.* The refusal to grant a requested jury charge that states a sound principle of law applicable to the case at hand is an error of law. *Id.* at 390, 529 S.E.2d at 539. The law to be charged must be determined from the evidence presented at trial.

*State v. Pittman*, 373 S.C. 527, 570, 647 S.E.2d 144, 166–67 (2008). The erroneous denial of a requested manslaughter jury instruction is subject to a harmless error analysis. *State v. Battle*, 408 S.C. 109, 121, 757 S.E.2d 737, 743 (Ct. App. 2014). “When considering whether an error with respect to a jury instruction [is] harmless, [an appellate court] must ‘determine beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict.’” *State v. Middleton*, 407 S.C. 312, 317, 755 S.E.2d 432, 435 (2014).

### Analysis

Based upon the South Carolina Supreme Court's opinion in *State v. Knoten*, 347 S.C. 296, 555 S.E.2d 391 (2001), Respondent concedes that the trial court erred in denying Appellant's request to charge voluntary manslaughter as the charge was warranted based upon Appellant's first statement to law enforcement that she later repudiated. In Appellant's first written statement to police (R. pp. 1080–83), she indicated that she shot Victim after he hit her numerous times. Those facts, combined with Dennis's testimony that Appellant told him in her first oral statement to police that “she thought she pretty much snapped[,]” were sufficient to warrant a voluntary

manslaughter charge.<sup>12</sup> Though Appellant recanted her first statement and expressly denied that it was true at trial, under South Carolina law, she was still entitled to the voluntary manslaughter instruction. *See Knoten*, 347 S.C. at 306, 555 S.E.2d at 396 (finding there was evidence to support a voluntary manslaughter charge where the

---

<sup>12</sup> Respondent notes that it is arguable whether this issue was properly preserved. In requesting the voluntary manslaughter instruction, defense counsel only vaguely referred to what happened in the woods that night, saying “[s]omething happened and she shot him at that instance. And some more facts to that but I will submit there is some evidence, Your Honor, that would support a voluntary manslaughter charge to the jury.” (R. p. 953, lines 14–17). Defense counsel also pointed out that “[t]here was testimony that the smoking the crack cocaine does at times change [Victim’s] temperament.” (R. p. 956, lines 9–11). Defense counsel did not reference Dennis’s testimony that Appellant said she thought she snapped, and, importantly, defense counsel did not specifically argue that Appellant’s written statement accused Victim of hitting her numerous times before she blacked out and apparently shot him. Though the trial court had heard extensive testimony about a history of physical abuse, the only evidence that Victim was hitting Appellant immediately before she blacked out was in the written statement. And it does not appear that her written statement was read into the record. (R. p. 597, line 6–p. 598, line 17).

Based on the substance of the trial court’s ruling refusing to charge voluntary manslaughter, it is clear that the trial court did not understand the argument that defense counsel was making to be the same one Appellant now raises. *See State v. Frieburger*, 366 S.C. 125, 134, 620 S.E.2d 737, 741 (2005) (finding an argument advanced on appeal was not preserved for review because it was not raised to and ruled on below). Respondent submits that the trial court was not able to rule after considering “all relevant facts, law, and arguments[.]” *State v. Passmore*, 363 S.C. 568, 584, 611 S.E.2d 273, 281–82 (Ct. App. 2005) (quoting *I’ON, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000)), because defense counsel did not draw the trial court’s attention to those specific facts that supported a voluntary manslaughter charge.

Instead, defense counsel almost exclusively focused on Wise’s statements to police and Wise’s testimony at trial, which have nothing to do with Appellant’s May 26th written statement to police. (R. p. 953, line 9–p. 957, line 7). Had defense counsel truly been relying on the information in Appellant’s May 26th statement to support his voluntary manslaughter instruction request, it would have been simple to point out that Appellant shot Victim after he hit her numerous times (classic self-defense or involuntary manslaughter depending on *mens rea*). However, what defense counsel argued was “[s]omething happened . . . [a]nd some more facts[.]” and then he asked the trial court to charge voluntary manslaughter on that basis. Such vague representations cannot be sufficient to preserve the issue, particularly where the statement defense counsel was referring to is one that no party was pursuing as the truth, so there was very little discussion or factual development of that statement at the trial.

defendant's second statement to police supported the charge though the defendant recanted his second statement and testified that it was a fabrication). Accordingly, Respondent is constrained to concede that it was error to deny Appellant's request to charge voluntary manslaughter even though this lesser offense was repudiated by Appellant's later statements and the defense theory presented at trial.

Though the trial court erred in refusing to charge voluntary manslaughter, such error was harmless. Whether an error with respect to a jury instruction was harmless is a very fact-intensive inquiry. *Middleton*, 407 S.C. at 317, 755 S.E.2d at 435. And a court's "inquiry is not what the verdict would have been had the jury been given the correct charge, but whether the erroneous charge contributed to the verdict rendered." *Id.* (quoting *State v. Kerr*, 330 S.C. 132, 144–45, 498 S.E.2d 212, 218 (Ct. App. 1998)).

Respondent submits that the lack of a voluntary manslaughter charge did not contribute to the verdict. The facts of this case, as outlined in this brief's Statement of Facts section, largely support a theory propounded by the State, that Appellant and Wise acted in concert in killing Victim. However, depending on the weight that the jury gave the testimony of Wise and Appellant, the jury also could have found that either of them acted on their own in shooting Victim. Of course, there was extremely little development of the information provided by Appellant in her May 26th statement—the only evidence under which the jury could have found Appellant guilty of voluntary manslaughter—because neither side represented that the May 26th statement was the truth.

The State argued that Appellant's May 26th statement was just another example of her "lies and manipulations"—that it was her plan B after she initially told police to look at Hill. (R. p. 1010, lines 21–24; R. p. 1013, line 1–p. 1014, line 16; R. p. 1016, line

15–p. 1017, line 20). The State also told the jury during closing arguments, “It has not been the State’s contention all week that you should believe every word that comes out of Tim Wise’s mouth. I don’t think that just because we called him as a witness, folks.” (R. p. 1013, lines 10–13).

Defense counsel, in both his opening and closing statements, asked the jury to think about “who had the gun.” (R. p. 145, lines 11–25; R. p. 970, lines 5–11). And the defense theory of the case was consistent with Appellant’s testimony—that Wise acted entirely on his own in shooting Victim and that Appellant was merely an innocent witness who later confessed to the shooting under threat.

While the *Knoten* case is most similar to the instant case as it also deals with evidence in a recanted statement that supports a lesser-included offense, our Supreme Court did not analyze whether the error in *Knoten* was harmless. However, there are other cases that are instructive on the issue of harmless error. In *Middleton* the South Carolina Supreme Court found that a trial court’s failure to charge a lesser-included offense was harmless because “the evidence adduced at trial demonstrates that, notwithstanding the failure to charge the lesser-included offense, the only conclusion established by the evidence is that Appellant was guilty of attempted murder . . . . In our view, there is no other way to construe the evidence in this case . . . .” 407 S.C. at 319, 755 S.E.2d at 436. In *Battle* this Court found that the refusal to charge the lesser-included offense of involuntary manslaughter was not harmless because the Court could not “construe the evidence . . . as only showing Appellant intentionally killed Victim.” 408 S.C. at 122, 757 S.E.2d at 743–44. The Court distinguished its facts from those in

*Middleton*, noting “[u]nlike *Middleton*, the evidence in the present case does not support one clear-cut conclusion.” *Id.*

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